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For Antonio and Antonio and Zeke






“Poor Mexico, so far from God and so close to the United States.”

—General Porfirio Díaz, Presidente de México, 1876–1880, 1884–1911








PROLOGUE

DORADO, MEXICO—EARLY 1800S

Alferez Antonio Sonoro was born with gold in his eyes. The gold was sharp and it stung him so that he blinked uncontrollably and always carried a vial of salted water in his pocket. Of the four Sonoro brothers he was the only one thus signified, and his parents regarded it a blessing, incontestable proof of divine favor. Though he was the youngest, the servants carved his portion of meat first, even before his father’s. His mother often knelt before him at night, delivering her prayers directly to her child, rather than to God.

The Sonoros lived in Dorado, a mining town established by their silk-clad forebears in the arid brushland fronting what the Texans called the Rio Grande, but which the Mexicans gave the more descriptive name Río Bravo del Norte. A flock of clay-colored buildings studded with wooden vigas and decorated with dahlias drowsing in white pots, Dorado sat quiet and erect across the water from the wilds of the province of Texas, a four-day journey upstream from where the river spooled emerald into the briny Gulf. Dorado, meaning “golden,” was both a wish and a command—the earth there was split apart by the Sonoros and her bounty revealed. And they took lustily.

The pain in his eyes made Alferez Antonio unsympathetic. If I can stand it, he thought, anyone can withstand anything. And most people believed he’d been born with gold in his loins as well for he lusted after more, more than he could spend, more than he could hold, more than could ever be dragged by the cartful from the belly of the earth.

When Alferez Antonio stood in the sunlight, the gold gleamed white and it was impossible for anyone to address him without averting their own gaze. Even his father, abandoning all pretense that he was master of his child, took to doffing his hat and holding it at his chest and looking at the ground one day when his teenage son stood at the entrance to the mother lode and demanded to know why only grown men worked in the mine.

“Surely there are small pieces that women and children could gather,” Alferez Antonio said. He kicked dirt at a thin, clubfooted child who’d stepped timidly forward, one palm open in supplication. “We ride mares the same as colts. We slaughter the fattest kid goats and cook them in their own blood. Why is it different with these Carrizo mongrels?”

His father watched the bare backs of the Carrizo tribesmen as they shuffled single file into the maw. Eleven thousand years of careful cultivation of the ungenerous earth, and for all their toil they were now granted the license to squat on their own land. The Spanish outnumbered the Carrizos and had long ago forced them west away from the riverbanks, because their God said to replenish the earth and subdue it. Their God granted them dominion over every living thing that moved upon the earth.

The father turned his hat around in his hands as though he might find courage somewhere along the velvet trim. “When the mine is yours you may run it as you like,” he said quietly. And with a tremor in his voice he added, “But I caution you against working the Carrizos too hard. They will bend only so far.”

Alferez Antonio snorted. “When will it be mine?” And then, in a voice his father took to come not from the boy but from God, added, “You won’t live forever.”

“A lame horse can’t run,” the father whispered.

When the father died days later it was assumed throughout Dorado that Alferez Antonio had killed him. And like all news that is unpleasant and inevitable, the story was accepted, absorbed, and forgotten in one gulp.

Mine work was presented to the Carrizos as an opportunity for advancement. Imagine closing your fist around your own centavos every week! The mine spokesman jingled change in his pocket and leered at the women as he strolled in pointed boots past their thatched-roof jacales. Imagine your children liberated from the drudgery of tilling the fickle soil, imagine the freedom to earn a wage and contribute to your family. A job in the mine is a hand reaching out to you. Grasp that hand and be free. The people listened to the man’s speech with one eye trained on the spokesman’s cronies still seated on their horses, rifles pointing to Heaven. Those who did not voluntarily enlist were rounded up the first day, herded to the mine entrance, and forced down into the bowels by Alferez Antonio’s private militia. It took only two days for the first fatality, a boy of five who was skittering along a ledge to bring a lantern to his father when his feet faltered and he plunged, the light illuminating his round face as he fell and fell, extinguishing on the rocks below.

Soon, explosions rattled the plaster saints in Dorado’s church niches and sloshed water over the round rims of clay ollas. Alferez Antonio was tunneling deeper and wider. Before, the mine had been worked by three hundred—Alferez Antonio would have three thousand in his shafts, entire families outfitted down to the toddlers with hand drills and black powder.

The mine spit gold out of its mouth with such regularity it became known as El Fuente—the fountain. A bridge was hastily built across the river so shipments could travel north to San Antonio. Alferez Antonio oversaw construction of a new church in the center of Dorado, with the tallest bell tower north of Monterrey. He built himself a sprawling hacienda on the southern edge of town with white Roman columns and smaller adjacent structures for his brothers and their wives. He threw parties, served mountains of shrimp and shark fins he had packed in ice and floated up the Río Bravo on barges from the Gulf. Over the next ten years he took one wife and then another and another, parading them through the plaza on Sunday evenings in their gauzy regency gowns like three naiads. The people of Dorado swallowed their misgivings like bitter medicine topped with sugar—they danced at his parties, played faro in his cantinas until dawn, wore braided gold chains around their necks, and cleared their throats and changed the subject when the Carrizos loudly bore another of their dead through the streets, wailing and wringing their hands and clanging their bells.

But in his early thirties, Alferez Antonio’s eyesight began to fail. The gold had slipped from the edges of his irises and was now invading his pupils, clouding his vision. The pain woke him at night and he’d stomp through the halls of his splendid home, glaring out the windows and between the columns at the dark fields and the dark mine beyond. Soon the workers were divided into shifts and the mercury furnaces burned all night, rivaling the moon for their radiance.

It was then that the Carrizos’ dissent began to grow tendrils, spiraling out and clutching legs as the men worked with rags tied across their faces, leading horses around circular patios to agitate a foot-thick slurry of gold, mercury, salt, water, and copper sulfate. Two more girls dead, they whispered, and an old man. And everyone had the headaches, the weakness in their limbs. Mal aire, bad air. No, said another, it’s the chemicals, and he pointed at a young roan pushing through the slurry with knocking knees. They managed to lead the horse out of the patio before it collapsed dead. An overseer pushed the men aside and split open the animal’s stomach with one flick of his large knife. He reached in up to his elbow and extracted a bloody lump the size of a mango. He demanded water and, once it was rinsed, the gathered men recognized it as an amalgam of gold and mercury, warmed in the humid oven of the horse’s stomach.

A strike was planned for the following week.

Alferez Antonio heard the whispers. His spies knew the location of every meeting. The day before the strike, a sultry June morning thick with impending rain, Alferez Antonio appeared before his workers and announced he was allowing them the day off, that they should rest with their families. Pickaxes were dropped, donkeys were left unloaded, and the Carrizos returned to their huts laughing and singing. Why, brother? the other Sonoros asked. The Carrizos will grow indolent. Next they’ll expect us to rub their calloused feet. Alferez Antonio laughed. You’re exactly right, he said.

That night the Carrizo men were meeting in a cypress grove to list their demands. Alferez Antonio waited for his spies to ride back with word that the meeting was underway, and then he dispatched his men to the Carrizo shanties to round up all the women and children. Drag them by their heels, he said. Every last one.

There was a defunct vein and a series of stopes along the northern edge of the mine and they were deposited there, shoved at gunpoint down into the hole. When the Carrizo men returned to their huts, Alferez Antonio himself was waiting to tell them exactly where their wives and babies were.

Everyone in Dorado sat up in their beds at the screams of the Carrizo men as they tore through the brush to their families. The men stormed down into the warm earth, their families blinking up at them out of the blackness. Everyone spoke at once, everyone had a plan, and no one heard Alferez Antonio’s men strike their matches, nor the hiss of the fuses. The explosion sealed the exit behind ten meters of rock and created a wave of dust and debris that blew the Carrizos deep underground and smothered the most fortunate.

Alferez Antonio swallowed the last drop of golden añejo in his glass and watched with satisfaction as the smoke from the explosion rose under the full moon. He was about to turn to his lieutenant and order the man to ride to Agualeguas in the morning and recruit a new corps of workers. Tell them, he was about to say, what happens to agitators in El Fuente. But as he opened his mouth the ground beneath him began to shake. The explosion on the north end had worked loose the supports along the western edge of the lode. Beams snapped. Tunnels caved. The moon was white as an egg and in its glow Alferez Antonio watched whole trees sink and disappear. The shaking grew more violent and was accompanied by great explosions as the methane gas trapped underground flooded and lit every artery. The new bridge collapsed into the turgid river that sloshed over its banks and dampened the homes fronting the water. In town the people left their beds and ran out into the streets and looked up at the new church steeple rocking side to side before falling to the ground and shattering. In Laredo, Texas, three days’ journey by horse, the shaking rang the bell at San Agustín Church.

The moon disappeared behind smoke and dust. North of the mine, where the Río Bravo had peacefully carried silt and rainwater for millions of years, the explosion caused the river to split into two, to fork like lightning and then rejoin itself past Alferez Antonio’s big white house, at the southernmost edge of the Sonoro lands. Within minutes Dorado became an island, as though the river had spread its legs and delivered the town, now long and liver-shaped, and as disconnected from Mexico as it was from the United States. The rocky bluffs of Texas rose undisturbed like a sleeping leviathan on the other side of the water. Dorado was a land without a country.

When the sun rose and Alferez Antonio could see what remained of El Fuente, he felt as though he’d slipped away somewhere else, had been plucked by giant fingers and deposited into a foreign land, so unrecognizable was the terrain that appeared in the purpling dawn. The mine hadn’t simply collapsed—it was no longer there. A waterlogged crater five kilometers wide spread before him, a shallow hole that had swallowed every horse, every rock, every tree, every shovel, and left behind a barren depression as though crushed under an enormous boot heel. His eyes burned and his heart felt torn in two, for it wasn’t his wives he loved or his children or even the gold. It was his power for which he now grieved. He knew he would never again be able to take unquestioningly. His freedom and his privilege were trapped underground with the Carrizos, buried under kilometers of strata. He envied them even as he hated and blamed them. Their dirt-stained hands had managed to reach up out of the ground and clutch tight to his ankles, fixing him forever to the spot like an old Russian story he once heard about a soldier who’d been dared to thrust his sword into a grave. He rode his horse through the Sonoro lands, which now comprised the bottom three-quarters of the island, to where the river reconverged. He watched the rushing water carry away the last of the trees that only yesterday had stood on dry land. So it is, he thought and he spat on the dirt. He had ruled the town and now he would rule an island. And he took some consolation in knowing his will had been strong enough to bend a river. His fury had remapped the earth.

But the townspeople were disgusted by what Alferez Antonio had done, not least because their maids and ranch hands had been cousins of the Carrizos, and had packed up their rosaries and their Sunday shoes and fled, claiming they couldn’t hear themselves think for the whispers of the dead begging for a candle or a prayer. Children threw rocks at Alferez Antonio and his wives when he took them for a stroll. More than once he awoke to find cow’s blood smeared on the white columns of his home. The Sonoro brothers fought: one brother’s house was burned to the ground, another dropped dead into his caldo, and the third became convinced his wife favored Alferez Antonio and he strangled her with a curtain tie. Nephews and nieces washed up dead on the banks of the river.

Alferez Antonio continued to live in the white house, even after scorpions invaded the library, nesting in Cervantes and fighting atop the yellowed writings of Sahagún. He closed the rooms he did not need and his world shrank. One of the wives he buried in the garden after she choked on a fish bone, another ran away after a violin salesman, but the third stayed, dutifully producing children and grooming them for their eventual return to moneyed society. This wife died in childbirth on her fortieth birthday, a squirming baby girl at her breast. The child was named Perla, and perhaps owing to her hand in her mother’s death, the girl grew up sickly and fearful, certain every sneeze portended doom.

Alferez Antonio was nearing sixty when his daughter Perla was born. His other children had grown and gone, but not before they’d dragged off as much of the family’s dwindling fortune as they could carry. When Perla was a young girl, she could see the faded rectangles of paintings that had once cluttered the walls, dust outlines where once rested fauteuils and tufted ottomans, glass cabinets emptied of their Chinese figurines. At twenty she married a distant cousin who promised he could repair the cracks in the white walls and reclaim the books from the scorpions, though he always found excuses to be away from the house and meanwhile pigeons roosted in the bedrooms.

When Alferez Antonio awoke one morning crying that he could not see—the gold had finally pierced the nerves and blotted out the last lights of the visible world—Perla ran screaming through the brush that now surrounded the white house and into town for the doctor. But the old man died before she’d even closed the heavy oaken door of the main house, expiring with a cough and a whimper, his last thought just a single word repeating like one key struck again and again on a piano: Mine.

Perla hung black cloth over the mirrors, stopped the clocks, and refused to eat anything but bread and water for a month. That year, 1864, the year Napoleon III installed the Austrian archduke Ferdinand Maximilian into the Mexican presidency, Perla’s son was born.

She named him Antonio Sonoro, her priceless child.

After Perla had banished the doctor, the maids, and her cousins from the room, afraid they would breathe impure air into her son’s delicate lungs, she nursed her infant.

And watching her from a chair in the corner and jiggling his foot in angst and anticipation, unseen and unheard by the doctor, the maids, the cousins, and most of all Perla, sat Remedio.

Remedio had been to the house several times before to make a collection—a young man who had pleaded with him, a young woman who had sobbed, and an old man who had laughed and shaken his defiant fist in the direction he presumed to be Heaven.

Perla used her fingertips to brush black hair from the baby’s forehead and Remedio got to his feet, no longer able to sit still. The only indication that he moved across the room was a slight disturbance in the uniformity of the air, his presence as easily blinked away as an eyelash.

“I don’t understand,” Remedio said aloud, standing behind the woman and staring down into the grass-green eyes of the newborn. “He’s done nothing. He knows nothing. What if he lives his entire life virtuously?”

There was, of course, no answer.

Perla began to sing to her child. Antonio stopped suckling. He looked up at his mother, neither of them aware of the shadow behind her headboard, the edges of which vibrated slightly in agitation. Though the baby was scarcely ten minutes old, there in his mother’s arms and bathed in the warmth of her love, he smiled.

Remedio walked around the room and tried again, though he knew his arguments were futile. “Look at him. How can someone so young be assigned such a fate? That’s not justice—it’s little better than chaos.”

The baby began to cry and Perla put him on her shoulder and patted him gently on his back until his lids dropped. In another moment Perla was asleep as well, and Remedio thought the mother and child looked as still and posed as if Filippo Lippi himself had painted them onto the landscape of the bedchamber.

“I won’t do it,” Remedio said, taking one last look at the baby and putting on his hat. Men and women were marked for Hell every day by their own iniquitous hands, their misdeeds open around them and touching everything like a spreading tide. But this was the first time Remedio had ever been sent for a baby. “Strike me down if you will,” he said, “but I won’t do it.”

He left the house through the front door and walked down the path that led to the Río Bravo. A day, a year, a lifetime—viewed from up high the movement of time held as little significance as the rotations of distant galaxies. He would return—he was duty bound for that much—but only he would decide when.






PART ONE THE IDIOT







ONE

DORADO, MEXICO—1895

Antonio Sonoro was on his fifth cup of pulque. The sour-sweet drink had finally mellowed the bandido to the point he could sit down at a table instead of leaning against the bar, could allow his eyes to drop into a hand of cards instead of surveying the room gathering men and their intentions into little piles through which he could sift. Men nodded at Antonio but kept a respectful distance. Fending off rival gangs when they’d come to Dorado to collect a bounty on his head had alone fixed Antonio in the public imagination as a killer on par with Billy the Kid. And skirmishing with the detested Mexican customs agents and federal police had earned him credibility as a man who took no shit. Thus he was largely left alone. Yet since he’d come into the cantina a small pile of gifts accrued at his feet—a basket of brown eggs, a small bundle of dried minnows, a dozen tallow candles yellowed and curved like old bones—thank-yous from a woman to whom Antonio had given a chicken, a man whom Antonio had hidden from the rurales, and a teenage girl with one child and another on the way into whose small hands Antonio slipped coins whenever he had them. These gifts he accepted with averted eyes and a grunt. Later he would leave them on the bar for the cantinero’s mother.

And so even though he had little to fear inside his own local bar, the new bridge to Texas was close by and outsiders regularly drifted into town looking to buy guns, looking to sell guns, or looking for a place to hide as they’d been chased north by the rurales or south by the Texas Rangers. Antonio always spent the first hour in the cantina at the bar, his back to the drowsy cantinero, drinking cup after cup of pulque until the electric surges that ran through his legs quieted and his fingers loosened around the sides of his clay mug, until he could fill his lungs with slightly more air. That night he was invited to join a game of monte and, surveying the competition, he sat down.

He was playing with three ranch hands and a fourth man whom Antonio privately called the Idiot. The Idiot was sitting across the table from Antonio, so drunk a whitened line of drool ran down his chin. His shirt was streaked with vomit and Antonio pegged him as someone who’d lately come upon some money—not enough to get anywhere or do anything, but just enough to fund a couple weeks of whores and mezcal, to trace fingertips over the rim of freedom before being yanked back earthward. Antonio watched the Idiot slam his dirty fist upon the table when he lost and tried to peer under the skirt of the cantinero’s aged mother as she slouched between tables, and he watched the other men narrow their eyes and tap their fingers near where they holstered their guns, and he amused himself guessing how long it would be until someone killed him.

The Idiot made lurid boasts—“I once had a Coahuilan girl with a wooden leg. Ay cabrón, her leg was wood but her coño wasn’t!” He leaned forward to shout an order to the cantinero and spilled his mug over the arrayed cards—“Pah, you bastards didn’t have nothing.” At one point he attempted to jump up on his chair and demonstrate how he could ride a horse standing up—“Just like Buffalo Bill, pendejos!”

“I’ve been in Zacatecas,” the Idiot said, and Antonio could see by the way the ranch hands met each other’s eyes over their cards that they were no longer listening and were trying to decide when they would take him behind the cantina, rob him, and beat him blind. “The whites are taking everything that’s not nailed down,” the Idiot continued. “They looted the ruins at La Quemada. They took all the good mezcal—not a drop until you get to Monterrey! Every month they send out a train to New Orleans full of all kinds of shit.” The Idiot cackled, flecking tobacco-brown spittle onto Antonio’s cards, and Antonio was thankful he’d now lost count of his pulque, otherwise he’d be reaching for his pistol, too. “Let me tell you,” the Idiot concluded, “the Americans want everything in Mexico except the Mexicans.”

At that moment the Idiot caught a lucky hand and, in his excitement, he stood up to cheer and knocked the hat from the head of one of the ranch hands. A smile broke out across the ranch hand’s face, happy as he finally had a reason to draw his weapon. A moment later blood streamed around the knife in the Idiot’s stomach and washed under the table and across the Saltillo tiles to where Antonio sat smoking and thinking. He left red footprints behind him when he finally went home.

The next day Antonio rode to the nearest railroad stop and conferenced with the station agent until the man pissed himself and offered Antonio his silver pocket watch. For despite being the local badass, Antonio was just as poor as his neighbors, and his farm as drought-stricken as the next. He was in need of his next opportunity. They were in the sixth year of the drought. It hadn’t rained in eight months and that had been little more than a sprinkle. Everyone everywhere needed more water, more food, more money. “Where is God?” was the refrain taken up all over town. And Antonio looked at the sallow stomachs and leaden eyes of his neighbors and he could answer honestly, Not here.

He rode back to Dorado that night with the good news that the train the Idiot spoke of did exist, a treasure-laden caravan delivering riches into the United States and beyond. The train would travel through Mexico, crossing the border well north of Dorado at Ciudád Porfirio Díaz, and was guarded along the way by a troop of federales that would stay with it as far as the Río Bravo. Hearing of the armed guards Antonio decided that robbing it while it was still in Mexico was impossible without a veritable small army that could outshoot the government men. After it left Mexico, the train wouldn’t stop until it reached Houston, six hundred kilometers away. And it was there that Antonio decided he would make his play, while the train sat in the rail yard in Houston waiting to be decoupled, before its goods could be freighted on their way to New Orleans, Chicago, and wherever else lived Yankees with money.

As he rode home his head was full of calculations. He’d need men. To do it properly, twelve; to do it at all, no less than six. And his biggest challenge was going to be geography. It would take two weeks to reach Houston under ideal circumstances, no telling how long they might have to wait for the train once there, and far longer than two weeks to return, figuring the mules would at that point be laden with several hundred pounds of cargo apiece. To say they’d be conspicuous would be to say a coyote is conspicuous among newborn rabbits. Out of twelve men he could depend on three dying or getting waylaid, and he had to account for losing between thirty and fifty percent of the take, as stolen goods had a way of falling into ravines, drifting far off down a river, or simply vanishing when someone fell asleep or went behind a tree to take a leak. And of course he might never find the train. The station agent had been fairly certain it was the 339 engine on the Texas and New Orleans line, and his certainty had grown the deeper down his throat Antonio had stuck his pistol, but the human mind is a feeble thing for names and numbers, and Houston was a sprawling place. No telling how many rail yards there might be or how easily a gang of train robbers could blend in.

Antonio dealt mostly in cattle, rustling herds from Texas and driving them south, where they would board ships for Cuba, though he’d smuggled most everything across the river, from tequila going north to cotton going south, and guns going in every direction. But he didn’t like venturing any deeper into the United States than Laredo. Antonio was wanted for cattle and horse theft, smuggling, fence cutting, murder, and a dozen other charges culled from the wanted posters of other bandidos and pinned to him under the legal statute of “they all look alike.” And yet, the lust for treasure, for a gamble, for the breath-holding moment of rolling back the boxcar door and glimpsing what lay within, would not subside.

The agent had been unsure what exactly was on the train. He’d mentioned gold and Toltec masks, the cultural flotsam of centuries-dead savages. Gold jewelry would be tricky to unload. The last person who’d had gold in Dorado had been his own mother and she’d only inherited that meager sum. But Antonio savored a challenge. And the station agent had mentioned one item in particular that had made Antonio’s palms go slick: several crates of saddles from Hermosillo, the finest ever crafted. “If the bastard Cortés had ridden across the ocean on a horse,” the station agent said, “his ass would have rested on one of those beauties.”

It was the thought of Cortés and those saddles that tick-tocked around Antonio’s brain back in Dorado, where he lived with his wife, Jesusa, his two children—Nicolás and the baby, Aura—and his younger brother, Hugo. He thought of the saddles as he drove his skinny mules, planting another season of crops that would die for lack of rain. It bounced between the mud walls of his jacal at night when Jesusa chided the two children to sleep and got into bed with her back turned to him, refusing his hands and kicking him away with her bony heels. The thought tugged at his pant legs as his feet shuffled down the worn path from their jacal—which was situated on the end of a long, downward slope on the southern edge of the Sonoro lands, facing Texas—to the river to collect water for the goats, a rut that traced a perfect circle from the jacal to the riverbank, the goat pen, and back to the house. A man is at war with everything, he thought, even time itself, which he increasingly suspected of moving not in a straight line but a spiral, so that he passed and passed again the same moments in his life: planting, drinking, fighting with Jesusa, children, goats, pallid corn, whores, cows, his double-barreled shotgun clattering against the wall every time he slammed the door of his house. He was just past thirty—he should not know already what his life would look like at sixty. He felt he’d lived every day already until he couldn’t remember if he’d done something Monday or Sunday or a month before or a year. He’d been born three hundred years too late, he decided. He should have been on the ship with Hernán Cortés bearing a long sword with rubies in the hilt. He would have trampled the jungle in his suit of armor, shaking a clutch of animal heads at the temple priests and filling chests with enough gold to buy entrance to fifty Heavens. A man of his character shouldn’t be subjected to the daily tyranny of domestic life any more than a jaguar should be expected to pull a plow. He needed to find that train as much for what it contained as for what it symbolized—something he couldn’t yet articulate, but that comprised no less than his manhood, freedom, and divine right.

Hugo, on the other hand, bore well the mantle of home life. He’d come to live with Antonio and Jesusa and the two children in the little jacal when the roof finally collapsed on their grandfather’s big white house. Chased penniless into the hot, hungry world, the very last of the Sonoros’ money spent on his education in Monterrey, Hugo soon realized that his knowledge of ancient Greek and Catholic philosophy would not be parlayed into beef on the table, and that no woman in Dorado would ever marry a man possessing neither calluses nor hair. And so he joined Antonio and his family in the little shack, helping Jesusa gather eggs and mend holes, and teaching Nicolás his letters and arithmetic.

Antonio and Hugo had been brought up as brothers, though in actuality they shared no blood. Antonio was the last person alive who knew that his mother had accidentally killed a woman with her carriage and had been shamed by her maidservant into taking in the woman’s baby boy. When he was young Antonio tolerated the child and, over time, came to have a fondness for him, the greatest proof of which was that he continued to let Hugo live under the lie that he was a Sonoro. What greater gift could he give him, Antonio thought, than a gilded name? But the fact that they were not brothers grew more and more apparent as they all squeezed into the tiny jacal, as confinement and desperation made the differences between the two men more stark.

A few weeks after he learned about the train, Antonio barged red-faced into the jacal and kicked the solitary table so hard, the table flipped up on its side and smacked him in the face. Hugo was sitting on the floor grinding corn on a metate and regarded Antonio with a barely suppressed smirk. “I believe something is bothering you,” he said.

Antonio could see the suspicious outline of a book inside Hugo’s shirt. “I’ll throw that book in the fire if you don’t get back to work,” Antonio said. And then, because it was his house goddammit and he was still master of something, he added, “And then I’ll throw you in.”

Hugo slipped the book out of his shirt and put it on the floor and bent once again over the metate. “Maybe you’re better off forgetting it. If no one will go with you, it seems like a bad omen.”

Antonio chewed the inside of his cheek. He’d learned in the last week that his lust for the train was not shared. He’d approached every smuggler in Dorado and, to a man, everyone had said no. Too far, too dangerous, the rewards too uncertain. “Let the whites have those Indian masks,” one old bandit had said. “They’re cursed anyway.” The man he’d visited that afternoon, a big brute with whom he’d once eaten worms and ants while hiding out from Apaches, had gone so far as to feign a sudden interest in farming. “I have to look out for my family,” the man said. “Why not do the same?” Antonio had watched this man scratching a rusty hoe against the pale dirt like a chicken searching out forgotten corn, and he spit at his feet.

“I can still stand,” Antonio had said. “Even if the rest of you bow.”

The man waited until Antonio mounted his horse before he responded. “People are talking.”

Antonio glared down at the man from beneath his hat.

“They say it’s the Carrizos. That they’re the ones stopping the rain.”

In the unflagging sunlight Antonio’s face was darkness.

“Ride to Texas if you want,” the man had said, “but you’d better take your family, too.”

Jesusa banged into the jacal with Aura strapped to her back with her bright red rebozo. Her face was drawn from heat and exhaustion and lack of water. She dropped a basket on the floor. Six small pale quince rolled out. “Barely enough for one jar,” she said, looking with disgust at the sum total of the season’s harvest. She pulled Aura out from behind her and shoved her at Antonio while she wordlessly gathered the quince and began preparing them for jam.

The baby was beginning to fuss and Antonio gave her his knuckle to suck.

“Look at my skirt,” Jesusa said, and she shook two fistfuls of her drab brown dress. “It’s dry. I went into the river to cool off and the water’s not even up to my hem.” The river had been dwindling all year. Soon it would dry completely, and no one knew when it would refill.

“We can dig another well,” Antonio said. “Try another spot. I can go back to the big house. Look around and see if there’s anything left to sell.” He closed his mouth after that, for they both knew there were no spots left to try for wells, nor anything at the big white house but ghosts.

Hugo, with a remarkable talent for unwanted insights, said, “I was reading about a man in France who’s been sending balloons up into clouds to see if he can stimulate them to produce rain. It’s quite fascinating, see—”

Jesusa was muttering under her breath. Her dark eyebrows had gathered together and they presented as one black line running across her face in a way that made her look very young. Antonio watched his wife fume around, bringing spoons down with a clatter, upsetting a basket half filled with malformed potatoes. “Say it aloud, goddammit,” he finally said. “There’s no privacy in this place.”

“Acres,” Jesusa said louder and without looking up from her work, “and acres all the way to the sun and you let everything get overgrown like some fool peon and we’re left with a little patch that can’t grow worth nothing—”

“Yes, I’ve never heard this one before,” Antonio said. “Please tell me how you thought you were marrying a wealthy patrón only to find out he had nothing.”

“And how many times I used to pass the big white house when I was a little girl and how I believed we could just fix the holes in the roof—”

“A thousand apologies, princesa, for not wanting to raise our children in a house of ugly memories.”

“Everyone said don’t marry you. They said the ghosts of those dead Indians would chase me through my dreams, and God forgive me they were right—”

“I’m confused now. Is it the dead Indians who ruined your life, or me?”

“But you were funny and handsome. You used to sing—”

“I’m still handsome, chamaca—you better not forget it.”

“My mother said she’d throw herself off the roof of the church—”

“Your mother never did keep a promise.”

“Today in the quince trees when I went branch after branch and everything was dead and dried up I said, ‘Why God?’ I asked the Virgin Mother—”

“Hugo, did you know that I control the rain? I alone, Antonio Sonoro, am responsible for whether the clouds open or close. I tell you if I could I’d flood this hellhole. I’d send it to the bottom of a lake.”

“And I’m scared, God help me, I’m so scared for the children. Our children and their children and—”

Hugo had long stopped pretending to grind corn and made a half-hearted suggestion that he travel to Matamoros and find some students to tutor, but they all knew he wouldn’t and both Antonio and Jesusa told him to shut his mouth and get back to work.

“And now you want to leave and go chasing after a train.” Jesusa had turned around and now faced Antonio with a finger that glistened with fruit juice. “What kind of greed lives inside you that you would leave us to starve while you have an adventure?”

Antonio glared at Jesusa over the top of their daughter’s head. “Men have killed their wives for less insolence.”

At this Jesusa only threw the frayed end of the rebozo over her shoulder and shook her head. “Just what everyone would expect.”

“Are you so ignorant,” Antonio began, “that you can’t see I don’t have any other choice?” He paused and then he said, “Are you so heartless that you accuse me of greed when you know I’m trying to save us?” He bit his knuckle hard to keep from screaming and, he was surprised to find, to keep from crying, too. “Don’t pretend you don’t know that.”

Jesusa’s face was screwed up into something inscrutable, something that looked like despair and resignation and also, tenderness. She looked, too, like she might cry, and Antonio gave the baby to Hugo and he pulled Jesusa to him and his heart hurt for the hard edges of her shoulder bones, the gray circles under her eyes. He kissed her neck and whispered into her skin that he would make it all right, that he would fix everything. She wiped her eyes and said she had to gather eggs, and before Antonio could protest she pushed open the door and was swallowed by the sunlight. The bald quince on the table were already beginning to attract flies.

Antonio took Aura back and gave her a rag doll to hold, and the two men were quiet while she babbled and smacked the doll against her father’s chest.

“ ‘Marriage and hanging go by destiny; these matches are made in heaven.’ ” Hugo looked at Antonio with his eyebrows raised, but Antonio only scratched at a fleabite. Hugo cleared his throat as though working himself up to say something. “I, um, I’ve been practicing a little out in the brush with a bow and arrow I found at the old house. It’s a little thing, probably built for a child, but I’ve been working on it and I’m actually not bad when I can get myself situated. Anyway, um…” Antonio watched Hugo with a sense of foreboding. He knew it would come to this.

“You’re not going to Houston. You’re going to stay here and help Jesusa.”

“I can ride,” Hugo said. “And I can hunt, a little. I’ll do whatever you tell me.”

“I’m going to rob a train. When I need help having tea with the president’s wife, then I’ll ask you.”

“You shouldn’t go alone.”

“Grind your corn.”

Hugo looked hurt, but Antonio pretended not to care, still smarting from the argument with Jesusa. She was disappointed in him, and why shouldn’t she be? When they were first married and he moved them into the jacal, he’d told her it was only temporary, that he would stop fighting and stealing and that he’d fix up the big white house and clear the overgrown fields and use a machete to hack away the dark and cluttered history that obscured their new life. And perhaps he had intended to do all that and more, but there was no money to pay for repairs, no workers to clear the fields, no banks to offer him a loan. Antonio never believed in curses or bad legacies—he lived in a poor region in a poor country peopled by ignorant peasants ground down by centuries of exploitation, ruled by a corrupt and avaricious government, bounded on one side by a hostile foreign power with no regard for economic parity or national sovereignty, and unlucky enough to have suffered a prolonged drought. His grandfather could have murdered a dozen Indian tribes and Antonio knew it wouldn’t make him or the town any worse off.

And so, after months of returning home scratched and sunburnt and smarting from granjeno thorns, having managed to wrench only a few acres out of the grip of the dense undergrowth that knitted itself tightly across the Sonoro land, he was ready for any chance of escape. When he was asked to join a small raid on a ranch near Zapata, he didn’t think twice. And thus he had scratched out his living for the last twelve years, score to score, though as soon as he came into any money whatsoever, widows and crying children would appear at his side, clutching at his clothes and begging for a little consideration. Always, by the time he’d return home, the little handful of coins he’d place in Jesusa’s hands was but a shaving of all he wished to give her. This job, this train, could be his dragon guarding a golden hoard. He’d impale the head, bring home the spoils, and grant Jesusa the peace she deserved.

“I’m going with you,” Hugo said again, his face stiffened, with a hard little line settled in between his eyes.

But Antonio was through speaking and he wanted a drink. “Don’t be stupid,” he said and, softening just a bit, added, “Better you keep your hands clean. Maybe you’ll be the one to pull us out of this shit.” He handed Aura to Hugo and then headed to the cantina, hoping to straighten his thoughts.

Antonio spent the next week at the cantina, drinking all night and sleeping during the day on a blanket he threw down in the storeroom. One night to straighten his thoughts had turned into two nights to drink off the first, and soon he’d decided to just stay away, preferring the quiet clink of glasses, the murmur of conversation, the neat shelf of bottles, and the patient motions of the cantinero pouring, washing, wiping to the manifold failures both real and expected waiting for him back home. He waged arguments with Jesusa in his mind, the battles intensifying with each drink, and then dozed in the mornings half drunk, imagining the look on her face when he draped a gold chain around her neck and slid gold rings onto each of her overworked fingers.

On the seventh day he made the long walk from Dorado to his jacal, through the little island village. The church tower at the center of town rose four stories high in once-imposing Gothic Revival, a brick and stone edifice capped by a neglected bell tower of red tiles, many of which had fallen and shattered decades before. The other buildings in town unspooled around the locus of the church, with low, close-fitted houses built in the European style and spread outward almost to the edges of the riverbank, their once-gay colors—frog green, persimmon, honey, and sapphire—only visible now in traces, as though the town was forgetting itself, succumbing to an urge to swallow its existence, to allow the name, Dorado, to curl into the sky like smoke and disappear.

Antonio walked through the town, past the last houses and the hill that held the cemetery, and on to the start of the Sonoro lands. When he’d stormed off he was in such a cloud he’d forgotten his machete and now he used his knife and a long branch to bushwhack his way through the dense chaparral, the trees seeming to grow together overnight to create a botanic fortress around the property. At one time, long before he was born, there might have been vast fields of corn and watermelon, wide tracts of grass for cattle, but by the time he was a boy everything had gone feral or fallow. As he’d told Jesusa a thousand times: If the crops wouldn’t grow, what point was there in having more of them? No matter. He would build Jesusa a new house. They could even move to the mainland if she wanted. He’d fill up her house with china dishes and clean sheets. So he didn’t have anyone to help him? So what? No one then to claim the loot. He stopped and leaned against a tree to vomit. He’d been in worse shape before setting off on a new job. And he was better off alone. In and out, quick and easy. Two horses, four mules. If anyone stopped him on the way in he’d make his face go slack and say in perfectly broken English, “No problems, señor. You want buy my burro?”

When he reached the jacal he was surprised and dismayed to find everything in order. The goats were bent over their trough, the horses were turned out to graze in the sparse field. Antonio saw Jesusa had even repaired a fence post one of the mules had kicked over a month before.

Nicolás was sitting in front of the house skinning a squirrel, two more spotted brown bodies next to him on a tree stump. He looked up at his father without saying anything and continued struggling with the animal’s skin.

“Start at the feet,” Antonio said. “You started at his back like a rabbit, but with squirrels you start at the feet.”

“We thought you’d left already,” Nicolás said, resentment clear in his voice, though he turned the squirrel around and stuck in his knife just above the animal’s foot.

“Where’s your mother?”

The boy pointed with his knife toward the chicken coop, and just then Jesusa appeared in the yard scattering corn for the noisy chickens. She adjusted the red rebozo around her shoulders, and with her arms wide she looked like a gaunt bird, a brown body and red wings. She gave a sharp glance to her husband swaying on his feet before she stooped to go into the coop.

“You have to leave the shotgun with us,” the boy said, and when Antonio looked down at his son he saw the first faint brown hairs above the boy’s top lip, looking more like dirt than manhood. “I’m the man around here now,” and they both silently agreed that Nicolás would do a better job of defending the family than Hugo. Antonio rolled a cigarette and lit it and then, after thinking about it a moment, took it out of his mouth and offered it to the boy. Nicolás pulled short and deep and exhaled up into the blue morning sky like he’d been waiting for that cigarette his whole life.

“I expect I’ll be back in a month,” Antonio said to Jesusa leaning into the coop to collect eggs.

“I thought you were already gone,” she said, giving Antonio her back and narrow rump. “You see we’re doing fine without you.” Her body was bent in a perfect el as she reached for the farthest eggs, her firm contours hidden inside the generous folds of her skirt. He took a chance and leaned against her and ran his hands down her hips. She pressed into him, ground herself into his body, and he pulled her out of the chicken coop and turned her around and kissed her with such ferocity he hoped it would leave her knees weak, that she might collapse there under the weight of his love. Moments later, when they were in the jacal and she sat straddling him and pulling his hair back so that he watched her full lips and fervid eyes as they made love, she asked him if he was still going to leave.

“You think you’re going to take off on me now?” she asked, a wicked little shine in her eyes. “You think you can leave me?” She pulled his hair so hard he was staring straight up at a crack in the ceiling shaped like a seagull. Antonio didn’t answer, not wanting to ruin the moment with the truth.

When they were finished and Jesusa was putting back on her blouse, Antonio grabbed a morral and started filling it with the things he would need, but stopped and ducked as Jesusa hurled a clay mug at his head.

“Son of a bitch!” she screamed. “Coward!”

“What are you doing?” Antonio screamed back, picking up one of the largest pieces of the broken mug and throwing it near enough at Jesusa that she flinched, but not so close as to actually strike her. “I told you I was leaving.”

“I want you to get a job! I want you to build us a big enough house and take care of us like you’re supposed to. My God, you think you’re questing like—like—”

“Like Don Quixote,” Antonio suggested dryly, regretting now the nights he’d read the story aloud to his illiterate wife.

“Questing como Don Quixote,” she said and pressed her hands against her face in desperation. Then she looked up at him with eyes like two ripe olives. “I don’t think you’re cursed,” she said. “I think you’re afraid of being just like everyone else. Just another farmer. I think you can’t stand knowing your destiny is right here with us.”

But Antonio had turned away, and was back to packing the bag. “I’m going to bring you more gold than you can carry,” he said, grabbing tin cups and pans and making a great clatter. “You’ll have so much you could throw the little pieces in the water to make wishes.”

Tears formed at the corners of Jesusa’s eyes. They sparkled in the light that shone through the holes in the thatched roof.

Antonio turned and waved as he led the two horses and four mules slowly out of the yard. Nicolás regarded him sullenly from the front door. Even Aura, cradled in her brother’s arms, watched him with what looked like reproach. Hugo had disappeared, likely to church, and Antonio told Jesusa to make sure his younger brother did his share of the work. She was back inside the house before he’d even mounted his horse.

Antonio made it a short distance from the jacal when he heard a large body crashing gracelessly through the brush behind him. He had his pistol out in front of him when Hugo appeared sweaty, bleeding, and out of breath. He had a great pack slung over his back and was cradling a saddle in his arms like a baby.

“You’re not going to kill me,” he said, though he kept his eyes on the gun as he sidestepped Antonio and plopped the saddle on the spare horse. He looked down at his shirt that was already torn and streaked with blood where he’d been scratched by branches. “Anyway, it looks like nature will save you the trouble.”

But Antonio didn’t put his gun away. “Get back to the house.”

Hugo acted as though he couldn’t hear him. Looking anywhere but at the gun, he put one foot on the stirrup and struggled atop the spare horse, who flicked its tail with annoyance.

“Did you hear me?” Antonio asked, his outrage rising at this bald disrespect.

Hugo crossed himself and began a prayer to St. Christopher to protect their journey.

“I said get off that fucking horse!” Antonio screamed so loud that doves broke through the trees above them in fright. But Hugo, though he trembled a little, held the reins lightly in his hands and stared ahead of him, sweat running in two lines down his face. Antonio breathed loudly through his nose. He picked up a riding quirt from where it hung around his saddle horn and thought about beating Hugo down off the horse. Defiance from a younger sibling was intolerable, and everything in Antonio’s upbringing commanded that he teach Hugo some manners. How had he gotten it into his head that he could contradict Antonio? How had life not yet sharpened Hugo’s soft edges?

And yet part of him was relieved to not have to go to Texas alone, to have someone to talk to on the ride, someone with whom he could share the triumph of opening chests of treasure, someone to see the gold and the jewels reflected crimson and amber on his face and know he’d been right. Hugo had told him he’d do whatever he was told. Perhaps this was Antonio’s opportunity to finally teach Hugo how to be a man. Not in the trivial ways like hunting and shooting, but things more fundamental. Like looking out for himself.

He moved his horse close to Hugo’s and brought the stiff, braided part of the whip up to Hugo’s chin, using it to turn his face. “You’ll do everything I tell you,” Antonio said. “This is not going to be fun. And this is not an adventure.” He thought a second and then added, “If you think you’re going questing like goddamn Don Quixote, then get off that horse.”

Hugo looked down at the whip and slowly nodded his head.

Antonio held his position a moment longer and then replaced the whip around his saddle horn. Without a word he set them off slowly through the trees, the only sound the steady strike of the machete and the branches falling under its swing.



OEBPS/e9781668009345/fonts/RobotoCondensed-Bold.ttf


OEBPS/e9781668009345/fonts/RobotoCondensed-Regular.ttf


OEBPS/e9781668009345/fonts/EBGaramond-BoldItalic.ttf


OEBPS/e9781668009345/fonts/EBGaramond-Regular.ttf


OEBPS/e9781668009345/fonts/PlayfairDisplay-Black.ttf


OEBPS/e9781668009345/fonts/RobotoCondensed-Italic.ttf


OEBPS/e9781668009345/fonts/Roboto-Regular.ttf


OEBPS/e9781668009345/fonts/EBGaramond-Bold.ttf


OEBPS/e9781668009345/xhtml/nav.xhtml


Contents



		Cover


		Title Page


		Dedication


		Epigraph


		Prologue


		Part One: The Idiot

		Chapter One


		Chapter Two


		Chapter Three


		Chapter Four


		Chapter Five


		Chapter Six







		Part Two: El Tragabalas

		Chapter Seven


		Chapter Eight


		Chapter Nine


		Chapter Ten


		Chapter Eleven


		Chapter Twelve


		Chapter Thirteen


		Chapter Fourteen


		Chapter Fifteen


		Chapter Sixteen


		Chapter Seventeen


		Chapter Eighteen


		Chapter Nineteen


		Chapter Twenty







		Part Three: Becoming Light

		Chapter Twenty-One


		Chapter Twenty-Two


		Chapter Twenty-Three







		Part Four: Where the River Splits

		Chapter Twenty-Four


		Chapter Twenty-Five


		Chapter Twenty-Six


		Chapter Twenty-Seven







		Epilogue


		Author’s Note


		Acknowledgments


		About the Type


		About the Author


		Copyright







Guide



		Cover


		Start of Content


		Title Page


		Dedication


		Epigraph


		Prologue


		Epilogue


		Author’s Note


		Acknowledgments


		About the Author


		Copyright








		I


		II


		III


		V


		VI


		VII


		VIII


		IX


		X


		1


		2


		3


		4


		5


		6


		7


		8


		9


		10


		11


		12


		13


		14


		15


		16


		17


		18


		19


		20


		21


		22


		23


		24


		25


		26


		27


		28


		29


		30


		31


		32


		33


		34


		35


		36


		37


		38


		39


		40


		41


		42


		43


		44


		45


		46


		47


		48


		49


		50


		51


		52


		53


		54


		55


		56


		57


		58


		59


		60


		61


		62


		63


		64


		65


		66


		67


		68


		69


		70


		71


		72


		73


		74


		75


		76


		77


		78


		79


		80


		81


		82


		83


		84


		85


		86


		87


		88


		89


		90


		91


		92


		93


		94


		95


		96


		97


		98


		99


		100


		101


		102


		103


		104


		105


		106


		107


		108


		109


		110


		111


		112


		113


		114


		115


		116


		117


		118


		119


		120


		121


		122


		123


		124


		125


		126


		127


		128


		129


		130


		131


		132


		133


		134


		135


		136


		137


		138


		139


		140


		141


		142


		143


		144


		145


		146


		147


		148


		149


		150


		151


		152


		153


		154


		155


		156


		157


		158


		159


		160


		161


		162


		163


		164


		165


		166


		167


		168


		169


		170


		171


		172


		173


		174


		175


		176


		177


		178


		179


		180


		181


		182


		183


		184


		185


		186


		187


		188


		189


		190


		191


		192


		193


		194


		195


		196


		197


		198


		199


		200


		201


		202


		203


		204


		205


		206


		207


		208


		209


		210


		211


		212


		213


		214


		215


		216


		217


		218


		219


		220


		221


		222


		223


		224


		225


		226


		227


		228


		229


		230


		231


		232


		233


		234


		235


		236


		237


		238


		239


		240


		241


		242


		243


		244


		245


		246


		247


		248


		249


		250


		251


		252


		253


		254


		255


		256


		257


		258


		259


		260


		261


		262








OEBPS/e9781668009345/fonts/AnonymousPro-Regular.ttf


OEBPS/e9781668009345/images/9781668009345.jpg
GONZALEZ JAMES






OEBPS/e9781668009345/images/title.jpg
THE

BULLET
SWALLOWER

A NOVEL

ELIZABETH
GONZALEZ
JAMES

SIMON & SCHUSTER





OEBPS/e9781668009345/fonts/PlayfairDisplay-Bold.ttf


OEBPS/e9781668009345/fonts/EBGaramond-Italic.ttf


